STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CASE NO. 2024-AP-1249-CR

FILED

DEC 0 3 2024

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

Peter J. Long,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY
THE HONORABLE TERESA S. BASILIERE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Respectfully Submitted By:

Peter J. Long (DOC #383030) Pro Se Defendant-Appellant Oshkosh Correctional Institution P.O. Box 3310 Oshkosh, WI 54903-3310

Brief of Appellant

Statement of Issues

- I. Whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion by denying the Defendant-Appellant's, Peter J. Long's ("Long")¹, "Motion to Suppress and Dismiss based upon the Constitutional Protections under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution" ("Defendant's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss 4th Amendment" (R8))? The trial court erred by finding that, applied to the facts in this case. In addition, the trial court erred by finding that a 10-year-old child has the authority to [consent] to law enforcement's entry into Long's home even though the child's mother and Long were both home and awake at the time.
- II. Whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion by denying Long's Motion for Reconsideration (R30)? The trial court committed a manifest error of law and fact by finding that *State v Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367, applied to the facts in this case. In addition, the trial court erred by finding that a 10-year-old child has the authority to [consent] to law enforcement's entry into Long's home even though the child's mother and Long were both home and awake at the time.
- III. Whether the trial court erred by allowing the State to submit into the Record and cite in its brief elements of Winnebago County Sheriff's Deputy Gabriel Wildeman's ("Deputy Wildeman") [unredacted] body camera video ("BCV") from Long's home on 11/21/23 (R23) even though the BCV was [not] shown or admitted into evidence in open court during the motion evidentiary hearing held on 2/23/24?

Statement on Oral Argument

Oral argument is not necessary. Long believes that his issues and arguments can be adequately presented through briefs to the Court.

Statement on Publication

Long believes that this case should be published because the specific issues involved in this appeal regarding the lawfulness of a 10-year-old child's consent for law enforcement to enter a home while two adults were present inside the home has never been litigated before in the higher Courts.

Statement of the Case

On November 21. 2023, at approximately 10:15 p.m., law enforcement responded to a 911 call from a 10-year-old child regarding an alleged disturbance at Long's primary residence located in Fox Crossing, Wisconsin. (R1 & R8). After knocking on the *unlocked* front door for 16 minutes with no response, [four] law enforcement officers [unlawfully] entered Long's residence with guns drawn without a warrant in violation of Long's Constitutional Rights provided by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R8:1). Subsequently, they [unlawfully] arrested Long for disorderly conduct due to a verbal landlord/tenant argument he had with his temporary roommate, Trisha L. Bales ("Bales"). (R1 & R8).

On November 22, 2023, the Criminal Complaint was filed against Long for a Class B criminal misdemeanor – disorderly conduct ("DC"). (R2). On that same day, Long had his initial appearance in Court. (R7). Long received a \$500 signature bond with the condition of no contact with Bales. *Id.* However, Long did not sign the signature bond because he remained in custody in the Winnebago County Jail ("WCJ") on a PO hold. *Id.* Long represented himself *pro se* for this entire case. *Id.*

On November 29, 2023, Long filed a motion to dismiss with prejudice based upon protected speech under the First Amendment and that the two elements of disorderly conduct are not met ("Defendant's Motion to Dismiss – 1st Amendment and Elements Not Met"). (R5).

On December 4, 2023, Long filed a motion to dismiss based upon the constitutional protections under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution ("Defendant's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss – 4th Amendment"). (R8).

On February 23, 2024, a 3½ hour long Motion Evidentiary Hearing was held in the trial court regarding Long's two previously filed motions to dismiss. (R5 & R8). Long called two law enforcement witnesses to testify at this hearing: Winnebago County Sheriff's Deputy Gabriel Wildeman ("Deputy Wildeman" or "Wildeman") and FCPD Lieutenant Corey Haag ("Lt. Haag" or "Haag"). (R24:1-92 – **Transcript:** Motion Evidentiary Hearing on 02/23/24). During the hearing, Long entered four exhibits to include two police reports (Exhibits 1 & 2), the

[redacted] body camera video ("BCV") of Wildeman on a DVD from the WCSO (Exhibit 3)¹, and the unredacted BCV of Haag on a zip drive from the FCPD (Exhibit 4)¹. *Id*. The State presented and entered [no] exhibits to the trial court during this Motion Evidentiary Hearing. *Id*. The trial court summarized with the State that the hearing was about the issues of consent and exigent circumstances. (R24:10, LL 1-3). However, the State clearly stated during the beginning of the hearing that it was *only relying on the* [consent of AW] to legally enter the residence. (R24:8, LL 18-25).

At the end of the hearing, the trial court requested that the transcript from the motion evidentiary hearing be prepared and filed. (R24:87). The trial court ordered the State to file a brief summarizing its arguments within two weeks after the transcript was filed. (R24:88-89). The trial court ordered Long's response brief to be filed within two weeks after the State's brief was filed. An Oral Ruling was scheduled for April 30, 2024. *Id*.

On March 8, 2024, the court reporter filed the Transcript of the Motion Evidentiary Hearing held on February 23, 2024. (R24:1-92).

On March 22, 2024, the State filed its Brief Opposing the Defendant's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss ("State's Brief"). (R25:1-3; *See App. P. 22-24*).

Pursuant to Rule 809.15(4)(a), the record in the above referenced appeal [does] include items that are not electronically maintained. On October 11, 2024, these items were transferred to the Court of Appeals include: Defendant-Appellant's Exhibit 3 (DVD) filed 2/23/24 and Defendant-Appellant's Exhibit 4 (Zip Drive) filed 2/23/24. Exhibits 3 & 4 contain body camera video ("BCV") of law enforcement officers from 11/21/2023 at Long's residence.

On April 8, 2024, Long filed Defendant's Brief Supporting Defendant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss. (R27:1-44; See App. P. 25-41).

On April 30, 2024, the trial court conducted an Oral Ruling on Long's two motions to dismiss. The trial court **denied** Long's Motion to Dismiss -1^{st} Amendment and Elements Not Met. (R46 – Order & Transcript – R66:1-10; See App. P. 60-69).

The trial court also **denied** Long's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss – 4th Amendment. (Order – R47:1-2; See App. P. 7-8 & Transcript – R66:1-10, See App. P. 60-69). The trial court [erred] by denying Long's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss – 4th Amendment by finding that State v Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 647 N.W.2d 177, applied to the facts in this case. *Id.* (See State v Tomlinson, App. P. 110-124). In addition, the trial court [erred] by finding that a 10-year-old child, who is in *special education* classes in the [fourth] grade, has authority to [consent] to law enforcement's entry into Long's home even though the child's mother and Long were both home and awake. Id.

On May 10, 2024, Long filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (R30:1-7; See App. P. 70-76).

On May 13, 2024, the trial court [erred] by denying Long's Motion for Reconsideration by finding that State v Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 647 N.W.2d 177, applied to the facts in this case. (Order – R45; See App. P. 9 & Transcript – R67:1-11; See App. P. 77-87). In addition, the trial court erred by finding that a 10-year-old child has authority to [consent] to law enforcement's

entry into Long's home even though the child's mother and Long were both home and awake. *Id*.

On May 13, 2024, Long pled no contest to the DC and was sentenced to 45 days in the WCJ concurrent to his ES revocation sentence. (JOC – R31:1-2; *See* **App. P. 5-6** & Transcript – R67:12-27). At sentencing, Long already had 175 days of sentence credit since his arrest on November 21, 2023, so he was granted "time served" on this case. *Id*.

On May 17, 2024, the Judgment of Conviction was filed. (R31:1-2; *See* App. P. 5-6).

On June 14, 2024, the trial court signed and filed a written Court Order **denying** Long's Motion to Dismiss – 1st Amendment and Elements Not Met. (Court Order – R46:1).

On June 14, 2024, the trial court signed and filed a written Court Order denying Long's Motion for Reconsideration. (Court Order – R45:1; *See App. P.* 9).

On June 17, 2024, the trial court signed and filed a written Court Order **denying** Long's Motion to Suppress and Dismiss – 4th Amendment. (Court Order – R47:1-2; *See* App. P. 7-8).

On June 25, 2024, Long filed his Notice of Appeal. (R50).

On September 20, 2024, the three Transcripts were filed by the court reporter. (**Three Transcripts: R24** – Motion Evidentiary Hearing on 02/23/24; **R66** – Oral Ruling on 04/30/24; & **R67** – Motion Hearing/Plea and Sentencing Hearing on 05/13/24).

Statement of Facts

Long is the sole owner of his primary residence located at 1761 Butte des Morts Beach Road in the Village of Fox Crossing, Wisconsin. (R8:2, ¶ 1; See App. P. 11). Long's master bedroom suite with office, bathroom, and walk-in closet is on the southern end of his ranch style home. *Id*. The other two bedrooms are on the far northern end of his home. *Id*.

During the middle of September 2023, Trisha L. Bales ("Bales"), called Long stating she and her three young daughters were [homeless] and urgently needed a place to stay. (R8:2, ¶ 1; *See App. P. 11*). Bales daughters were 7, 10, and 12 years of age and they had a Pocket Pitbull dog named Violet. *Id.* Long is a Christian and was kind enough to allow them to move in and occupy the northern two bedrooms and bathroom of his house because his son had vacated to go to college. *Id.* Long was helping Bales "get back on her feet" financially until she could afford her own residence. *Id.* After the first free month, Bales agreed to pay Long \$750 per month plus half the monthly WE Energies' bill. *Id.*

On November 21, 2023, at around 10:00 p.m., Long began a landlord / tenant [conversation] with Bales regarding her and her children's lack of cleaning, vacuuming, taking out the garbage/recycling, and her refusal to purchase her own laundry soap, dishwasher detergent pods, and cleaning supplies. (R8:2, ¶ 3; *See* **App. P. 11**). This conversation only lasted approximately 3 minutes. *Id*.

Long left the kitchen and went to use the North bathroom. (R8:3, ¶ 3; See App. P. 12). Coming out of the bathroom Long passed Bales heading to her

bedroom in the small hallway outside the three girls' bedroom door which was mostly closed. *Id.* Long told Bales that if nobody wanted to help clean the house then he would have to hire a cleaning service and they would split the bill in half. *Id.* Bales became upset and was adamantly against the idea. *Id.* This landlord/tenant conversation turned into an argument with [both] Long and Bales gradually raising their voices until they were [both] yelling at each other. *Id.* & (R2:3, ¶ 1). This argument was also short and only lasted approximately 2 minutes. *Id.*

Towards the end of this short landlord/tenant argument in the small hallway outside the girls' bedroom in which they were already sleeping, Bales' Pocket Pitbull dog named Violet ran towards Long suddenly and attached him. (R8:3, ¶ 5; See App. P. 12) and (R11 & R12 – Dog Bite Pictures of Long's Lower Right Leg taken on 11/27/23 by PO). Long was knocked off balance when Violet bit him and locked onto Long's lower right leg pulling on it. Id. Long was yelling and screaming in pain during the dog attack. Id. Long fell backwards into Bales [incidentally] knocking her down and falling on top of her. That was the yelling that the dispatcher referenced on page 2, ¶ 1 if the Criminal Complaint. (R2:2, ¶ 1). That is also the noise that AW (age 10 – fourth grader) heard which woke her up, frightened her, and motivated her to call 911. (R8:3, ¶ 4; See App. P. 12).

FCPD Lt. Haag's body camera video ("BCV") was played in open court during the evidentiary hearing. (R18). It was on a zip drive which Long entered as Exhibit 4. *Id.* The importance of this BCV was that it caught Lt. Haag's interview

with AW in which she stated that, "I didn't really see it the whole time because I was over there hiding on the other side of the bed." (R24:80-81 and BCV at 10:42:20). Therefore, the 911 call is [not] inherently credible because AW later told FCPD Lt. Haag that she could [not] see the incident because she was hiding on the other side of the bed. Id. A 10-year-old [child's], a fourth grader in special education classes, ("AW's"), [misinterpretation] of a situation she could [not] see cannot support probable cause for law enforcement officers to enter Long's home [without] a warrant and with guns drawn. Id. & (R8:4, ¶ 6; See App. P. 13). That is an excessive show of force and an [unlawful] governmental intrusion into Long's home at approximately 10:34 p.m. Id.

In the present case, the police knew that Long was/is the sole owner of the home. (R2:2, ¶ 1, LL 5-6 P 4, ¶ 3, LL 7-8). Bales was Long's temporary tenant along with her three young daughters: ages 7, 10, and 12. All the responding officers already knew that Long lived at this residence from prior contacts.

(R27:11; *See* App. P. 35). In addition, the FCPD officers ran the plates to Bales green minivan parked in the driveway confirming it was her vehicle. (R19 & R21 & R27:11; *See* App. P. 35). FCPD officers also recognized Long's red Dodge Ram 2500 pickup truck parked in the driveway. *Id*. They testified that the dispatcher informed all officers that Long and Bales were home possibly involved in a domestic argument. *Id*. No children were [ever] left alone or "in charge" of Long's home. *Id*. Long and/or Bales were always home if the young children were there. *Id*. Therefore, only Long or Bales could [lawfully] give consent to enter into

their residence, contrary to the erroneous interpretation of State law and misguided testimony of Deputy Wildeman. *Id*.

Fox Crossing Police Department ("FCPD") Officer Kurczek ("Kurczek") and Deputy Gabriel Wildeman ("Wildeman") of the Winnebago County Sheriff's Office ("WCSO") were the first to arrive at Long's house the evening of November 21, 2023, at approximately 10:18 p.m. (R8:4, ¶ 8; See App. P. 13 and R24:18, LL 8-13). On February 23, 2024, Deputy Wildeman testified that "the reason for knocking and not going in immediately was waiting for somebody to come to the door to answer it." (R24:18, LL 18-21). Upon arrival at Long's home, Wildeman believed there were [at least] two adults inside the residence. (R24:19, LL 3-5). Also, Wildeman testified that he didn't know how many children were home, who the actual juvenile reporting party was, and how old the she was. (R24:19, LL 6-15).

After observing and walking around the residence looking in windows, Kurczek and Wildeman *observed* a [quiet home] with [no] activity and [no] noise coming from inside. (R24:19-21). There was [no] corroborated probable cause of the report of a physical fight. *Id*. Therefore, there was [no] corroborated probable cause to call two more officers, FCPD Lt. Haag and Officer Jack, to Long's residence because Kurczek's and Wildeman's observations indicated that a 10-year-old's (AW's) 911 call was [not] confirmed by anything. *Id*.

Deputy Wildeman testified that he was walking around the residence tapping on, and shining in, the windows with his flashlight and [nobody] came to

the windows and cried for help or stated that they needed medical attention. (R24:21, LL 10-15). He testified that the windows were open and the interior lights were on. (R24:13, L 21 \rightarrow P 14, L 4; R24:20, L 6 \rightarrow P 21, L 22). Wildeman also testified that "while peering into windows, looking through patio doors, and the living room picture window, he did [not] hear any yelling, banging, arguing, cries for help, or complaints of pain coming from anyone inside the residence." (R24:21, LL 16-22). Furthermore, dispatch had informed the responding officers that there were [no] prior calls at Long's address. (R2:2, \P 1). Long has [no] criminal history of violence or domestic abuse. *Id.* During the 911 call, dispatch also confirmed with AW that [no] ambulance was needed because nobody needed medical attention. *Id.*

After 16 minutes of [violent] and [excessive] pounding on Long's unlocked front door nobody answered the front door. (R8:4, ¶ 9; *See* App. P. 13 *and* R24:18, LL 4-21; R24:40, L 15 → P 44, L18). Although awake and in their bedrooms, *neither* the reporting party, AW, *nor* her mother, Bales went to the front door to answer it. *Id*. Nobody talked to the police or gave them [consent] to enter the home. *Id*. During this time, law enforcement could have easily spent the 20 minutes that Wildeman testified it would have taken to procure a warrant to enter Long's home had they actually had probable cause. (R24:21-23). Lt. Haag was the officer in charge of the scene. (R24:22, LL 6-7). Deputy Wildeman was on the scene to assist the FCPD officers, Lt. Haag, Officer Kurczek, and Officer Jack. (R24:11; R24:22, LL 1-5).

After more time passed without noise or incident, AW (age 10) and her older sister, EW (age 12), left their bedroom and went into the kitchen to look out the glass patio door to see who was walking around the house late at night shining flashlights into their bedroom windows. (R8:4-5, ¶ 9; See App. P. 13-14). Deputy Wildeman saw the two girls standing in the kitchen looking at him. (R24:13, LL 4-15). They did [not] indicate that they were in danger, grave danger, distress, or needed immediate medical attention. (R24:21, LL 2-22). They actually just calmly looked at him through the glass patio door and said nothing. (R24:13, LL 4-15; R24:23-25).

Deputy Wildeman [falsely] testified that AW opened the rear glass patio door and gave him consent to enter. (R24:40, L 15 \rightarrow P 44, L 10). Highly relevant excerpts of Deputy Wildeman's testimony from the transcript (R24) are typed in verbatim as follows: (R24:23-44).

P 23	L 16	BY TH	IE DEFENDANT:
	L 17	Q	How many search warrants have have you attempted to
	L 18		procure while employed by the Fox by Winnebago County
	L 19		Sheriff's Office with respect to not talking about
	L 20		OWI's and blood draws.
	L 21	A	None. (Wildeman).
	L 22	Q	So it's correct to say you entered my home through the
	L 23		rear patio door?
	L 24	A	Correct. (Wildeman).
	L 25	Q	Okay. At that time, why did you enter my home?
P 24	L 1	A	Because Aleasha invited me in. (Wildeman).
	L 2	Q	Did she say come inside?
	L 3	A	Not in those words. (Wildeman).
	L 4	Q	Did she say it in any type of words?

	L 5	A	Yeah. She said they're hiding in the bedroom with us. (Wildman).
	L 6	Q	You're saying that means that equates to come inside?
	L7	\mathbf{A}	Yes. It's quite common for me to knock on a door and
	L 8		say, hey, I'm here to find so-and-so, and somebody says,
	L 9		oh, they're in this room, and then we go in. It's quite
	L 10		common. (Wildeman).
	L11	Q	Did you say you're Officer So-and-So at that time by the
	L 12		patio door?
	L 13	A	I don't believe I stated my name and agency, no, but I
	L 14		was in full duty uniform. (Wildeman).
	L 15	Q	Did you even tell the do you know how old Aleasha is?
	L 16	A	I believe now she is about 10. (Wildeman).
	L 17	Q	Well, when she opened the patio door, did you ask the
	L 18		child if anyone needed medical attention?
	L 19	\mathbf{A}	I didn't really get the time to. I asked her, can you
	L 20		step outside and talk to me? Because those were
	L 21		questions that I was going to ask. But then she said
	L 22		I think even she shook her head and said, they're in the
	L 23		room they're hiding in the room with us, and walked
	L 24		away, and that is when we entered. (Wildeman).
	L 25	Q	Once inside my residence, did you hear any yelling?
P 25	L 1	\mathbf{A}	No. (Wildeman).
	L 2	Q	Did you hear any arguing?
	L 3	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 4	Q	Did you hear any banging?
	L 5	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 6	Q	Did you hear any cries for help?
	L 7	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 8	Q	Do [sic] you hear any complaints of pain?
	L 9	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 10	Q	Once inside my residence, what did you do?
	L 11	A	We started towards the bedroom where or down the
	L 12		hallway where I had seen Aleasha come from. We started
	L 13		searching the rooms there for individuals. (Wildeman).
	L 14	Q	Were all the lights on so you could easily see?

	L 15	A	I believe so in most of the rooms. The bedroom and
	L 16		bathroom I think were off or at least one of the
	L 17		bedrooms and bathroom the lights were off. (Wildeman).
	L 18	Q	Did you say anything?
	L 19	A	Yeah. We announced police department, sheriff's office. (Wildeman).
	L 20	Q	Did you draw your firearm?
	L 21	\mathbf{A}	I did. (Wildeman).
	L 22	Q	Did you ask if everyone was okay?
	L 23	\mathbf{A}	I never came in contact with the victims until the very
	L 24		end. (Wildman).
	L 25	Q	What I'm saying is when you announced police department.
P 26	L 1	A	No, I did not yell out, are you okay.
	L 2	Q	Okay.
****	••••	••••	
P 26	L 17	Q	Did you enter the residence under the emergency aid
	L 18		exception?
	L 19	A	I entered under consent. (Wildeman).
	L 20	Q	Did you enter the residence under the community caretaker
	L 21		function of the police?
	L 22	A	Not at that time. (Wildeman).
	L 23	Q	So there's only one entry; right?
	L 24	A	Yes. (Wildeman).
	L 25	Q	So it's a yes or no question.
P 27	L 1	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 2	Q	So when you yelled sheriff's department, I presumed, did
	L 3		you yell sheriff's department and then followed up with
	L 4		is everyone okay?
	L 5	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 6	Q	Did you ask if anyone or yell if anyone needed medical
	L 7		attention?
	L 8	A	I did not. (Wildeman).
	L 9	Q	Did you observe anything suggesting that there had been a
	L 10		fight or disturbance?
	L 11	A	Not that I can recall. (Wildeman).

	L 12	Q	Did you let any other officers inside my home?
	L 13	A	Well, Officer Haag followed me, and then we opened the
	L 14		door for Officer Kurczek. (Wildeman).
	L 15	Q	Did you open the door?
	L 16	A	I don't recall exactly who opened the front door. I just
	L 17		know that Lieutenant or, sorry Officer Kurczek was
	L 18		allowed through the front door. (Wildeman).
	••••	••••	
P 30	L 17	Q	Okay. Let's just, for a moment here, go back to the
	L 18		the point of entry, the time of entry through the the
	L 19		unlocked patio door. So you testified that 10-year-old
	L 20		child, AW, Aleasha, opened the rear patio door.
	L 21	Α	Yes ² . (Wildeman).
	L 22	Q	Did you at did you believe I was home at the time?
	L 23	A	Yes. (Wildeman).
	L 24	Q	Did you believe that Trisha Bales was home at the time?
	L 25	A	Yes. (Wildeman).
	••••	••••	
P 31	L 10	Q	Did she (AW) appear calm and speak in a normal tone?
	L 11	A	Yes. She was very quiet, though, which I thought was
	L 12		odd. (Wildeman).
	L 13	Q	At that time did you believe that Aleasha had authority
	L 14		over the premises?
	L 15	A	Yes. (Wildeman).
	L 16	Q	Why?
	L 17	A	Because she was inside the residence. (Wildeman).
	L 18	Q	No, I mean authority over the premises; the one in
	L 19		charge.
	L 20	A	I guess I'm not used to somebody being, quote, unquote,
	L 21		in charge, of a residence. (Wildeman).

² **Perjury;** Deputy Wildeman's BCV from 11/21/23 starting at 22:30:31 [shows] that while he was standing on the rear deck, [he] reached out with [his hand] and slid open the glass patio door to the kitchen while the juvenile, Aleasha, just watched him.

	L 22	Q	Can a 10-year-old child give you consent to enter my
	L 23		home?
	L 24	\mathbf{A}	Yes. (Wildeman).
	L 25	Q	Based on what?
P 32	L 1	\mathbf{A}	She was the reporting party of a crime. She reported a
	L 2		crime occurred in a residence that she was legally able
	L 3		to be in and invited me in. (Wildeman).
	L 4	Q	Well, We already you already testified she didn't say
	L 5		come in; correct?
	L 6	\mathbf{A}	Not in those words. (Wildeman).
	L 7	Q	Why don't [sic] you ask AW to go get her mom to come to her [sic]
	L 8		patio door?
	L 9	\mathbf{A}	Because she walked away. (Wildeman).
	L 10	Q	But you're yelling inside the house. You could have
	LII		yelled at her, go get your mom. Right?
	L 12	A	Yes, I could have done a lot of things, but I didn't. (Wildeman).
	L 13	Q	At the time you entered my home, did you believe that
	L 14		anyone inside the residence was in grave danger of
	L 15		physical harm?
	L 16	A	Or yes. Or the threat of it. (Wildeman).
	L 17	Q	Who?
	L 18	A	The victim of the crime. (Wildeman).
	L 19	Q	Okay. It's an alleged crime; correct?
	L 20	A	If you want to use the word alleged crime, yeah. (Wildeman).
	L 21	Q	Well, you're you're not the judge and jury. It's an
	L 22		alleged crime.
	L 23	A	She reported a crime. (Wildeman).
	L 24	Q	Was it corroborated by any firsthand evidence by you at
	L 25		the scene?
P 33	L 1	\mathbf{A}	Not not at that moment, no. (Wildeman).
	L 2	Q	At any moment? At the time prior to entry?
	L 3	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 4	Q	Did you believe that procuring a warrant would cause
	L 5		some someone inside the home such grave danger to
	L 6		physical harm?

Case 2024AP001249 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-03-2024 Page 21 of 51

	L 7	A	I would have to say I have yet to think of that. (Wildeman).
	L 8	Q	Okay. Lastly, at on November 21st, 2023, at 10:32 at
	L 9		night, which was the approximate time of entry, who could
	L 10		have legally given consent to allow you to enter my home?
	L 11	\mathbf{A}	The residents of that home. (Wildeman).
	L 12	Q	So you're saying children can give consent when even
	L 13		when their parents are home?
	L 14	A	If no parents come to speak to me and the child has
	L 15		reported a crime, yes. (Wildeman).
••••	••••	••••	
P 35	L 1		THE DEFENDANT: I I am going to play the
1 35	L2		DVD (R18 – Exhibit 3: DVD of Deputy Wildeman's BCV from 11/21/23)
	L 3		THE COURT: Okay.
	L 4		THE DEFENDANT: that show what
	L 5		Deputy Wildeman did when he responded to my home
	L 6		THE COURT: Okay. Pull it up.
••••			
P 38	L 17	BY T	HE DEFENDANT:
	L 18	Q	Does your police report say you got consent to enter?
	L 19	A	Not in the exact words of I got consent to enter. (Wildeman).
	L 20	Q	Does it say I I guess I don't know what you
	L 21		mean by those exact words. Does it say anywhere that
	L 22		you the word consent?
	L 23	A	No. (Wildeman).
	L 24	Q	Is it fair to say that based on the timeline you were
	L 25		there approximately, at, like 14 minutes before you
P 39	L 1		entered?
	L 2	A	Sounds correct to me. (Wildeman).
	L 3	Q	You testified you didn't know how many children were in
	L 4		the residence or juveniles. Why would you assume the
	L 5		one that came to the door was the reporting party?
	L 6	A	Because at that time I had seen one juvenile female and I
	L 7		made the assumption that there was only one juvenile
	L 8		female. (Wildeman).

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