FILED 03-04-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2024AP001249-CR

v.

PETER J. LONG Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM DEFENDANT'S DENIED MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND DISMISS AND JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERESA BASILIERE, PRESIDING

Eric D. Sparr District Attorney State Bar No. 1052703 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Stephanie A. Stauber

I. Statement of Issues Presented for Review

- Whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss
- 2) Whether the trial court committed a manifest error of law and fact in denying Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.
- 3) Whether the trial court erred by requesting a copy of Deputy Wildeman's unredacted body camera video.

II. Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

The State is requesting neither publication nor oral argument.

III. Statement of the Case

Recognizing that the Defendant-Appellant is representing himself, despite his tendency to make arguments and include information that was unknown to law enforcement at the time, e.g., that the front door was unlocked and the reporting party was 10 years old, the State believes that his recitation of the facts of the case is sufficient at this juncture, and pursuant to Wis. Stat. 809.19(3)(a)(2), omits a repetitive statement of the case.

IV. Argument

1. The trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in denying the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss.

"An erroneous exercise of discretion may arise from an error in law or from the failure of the circuit court to base its decisions on the facts in the record." *State v. Ray*, 2005 WI 68, 281 Wis.2d 339, 6978 N.W. 2d 407. "Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197 (quoting *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971)).

Here, the trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it determined, in light of the facts and circumstances of this case, that AW's actions at the sliding patio door were non-verbal consent for the officers to enter and follow her inside. Before the circuit court denied the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss, the court first heard officers testimony and saw some of their body camera videos. Then the court adjourned proceedings for a separate oral decision date to allow the court the opportunity to review the transcript of the motion hearing and hear and

Page 6 of 12

see the video recordings better. The court also had the benefit of the parties submitting written arguments in their briefs.

As documented in the transcript of the motion hearing, Winnebago County Sheriff's Deputy Wildeman testified that AW opted not to come outside, although he requested that, but rather she moved back inside the house and left the door open. (Motion Tr. 14:9-20, February 23, 2024)

When asked if he entered under the emergency aid exception, Dep. Wildeman answered, "I entered under consent." (Id., 26:17-19) Deputy Wildeman testified that a 10 year old child can give consent to enter their home, and that she reported a crime occurred in a residence that she was legally able to be in and invited me in. (Id., 31:22-24 and 32:1-3) Deputy Wildeman also testified that the residents of a home can give consent for others to enter. (Id., 33:8-15)

Deputy Wildeman's testimony was essentially consistent with the unredacted recording from his body camera that night. In Dep. Wildeman's unredacted body camera recording of November 22, 2023 starting at 10:31:14pm, 10 year old AW unlocks the sliding glass patio door with an audible "click" of the lock . She then stands just inside of the door while Deputy Wildeman motions for her to step outside, saying, "Come on, come

Page 7 of 12

on out, come on out." Instead of exiting AW remains inside, and says, "they're hiding in the room with us," while she simultaneously gestures with her right thumb right pointing over her right shoulder to the interior of the residence." She stands a few (3-4) seconds longer before turning and retreating back inside, leaving the sliding glass patio door open, thereby consenting for the officer to enter the premises.

Based on Winnebago County Sheriff's Deputy Wildeman's testimony and his unredacted body camera recording, it was not an erroneous exercise of discretion for the trial court to find that Deputy Wildeman reasonably believed AW consented to his entering the residence. Her actions of unlocking the sliding glass patio door, declining his request for her to exit and instead telling him "they were hiding," while simultaneously gesturing over her shoulder before walking away in that direction leaving the door standing open for him to follow her indicate her implicit non-verbal consent. Thus, there was no 4th Amendment violation and no evidence should be suppressed, nor the complaint dismissed.

The trial court explained its reasoning, having considered the facts and circumstances in the record and read arguments from both parties to

reach its decision. As such the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss.

Indeed, the record shows that the trial court engaged in a rational thought process based on an examination of all facts and an application of those facts to the relevant law. Thus, there is no basis to find that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Defendant-Appellant's motions.

2. The trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion, nor make an error of law and fact by denying Defendant-Appellant's Motion to Reconsider.

On May 13, 2024, when the trial court denied the Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, the Court provided very similar reasoning to that of her April 30, 2024 oral ruling. Specifically, the Court, as it had previously indicated in the earlier oral ruling, because the video was not very clear, the Court supplemented that information with the officer's testimony regarding the opening of the door. (Motion (Reconsideration) / Plea and Sentencing Tr. 11:6-7, May 13, 2024) In conclusion, the Court reiterated that she had considered all factual circumstances and arguments here. (Id., 11:8-9) The trial court did not

Page 9 of 12

erroneously exercise its discretion, nor make an error of law and fact when it denied Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.

3. The trial court did not err by requesting a copy of Deputy Wildeman's unredacted body camera video.

The Defendant-Appellant never paid the \$15.00 cost to receive discovery from the District Attorney's Office as he was notified of on 01/29/2024. Apparently he chose instead to obtain Deputy Wildeman's body camera video by making an open records request of the Winnebago County Sheriff's Office, which resulted in his copy being redacted (with blurring to preserve juvenile confidentiality) per Wisconsin Open Records Law, Wis. Stats. \$19.36(6).

At the Motion Hearing, the State relied on law enforcement officers testimony, while the Defendant-Appellate chose to play Dep. Wildeman's redacted body camera video. Unfortunately the blurring done to maintain juvenile confidentiality covered not only the child's face, but also included the area of the door handle. The Court inquired whether the video being played was a copy of the "full" tape, and sought clarification as to whether the "blocked out portions" took time out of the recording or only blocked faces. (Mtn. Tr. 77:1-9, February 23, 2024) With the blurred area

Page 10 of 12

obscuring not only the child's face, but also her hand on the door, the redaction was concealing visual information that existed about the child and Dep. Wildeman's interaction at the patio door. Similarly, because the Court was having difficulty hearing the video of Lieutenant Haag's body camera, the Court stated that she "may just have to get a copy so that she can listen to it myself because having a hard time [hearing it.]" (Id., 80:19-21) The Court's request for the unredacted version of Deputy Wildeman's body camera video which he had testified existed was not an ex parte communication or submission because the Defendant-Appellant was present and did not object when the Court said that she wanted "to watch that tape again," and, upon the State seeking clarification, confirmed that the intent was to watch both body camera videos again. (Id., 87:18-20)

V. Conclusion

The trial court correctly exercised its discretion in denying the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss. The trial court heard testimony, reviewed body camera videos, read briefs and explained the reasoning used to reach her decision in her oral ruling and reiterated that same analysis as to the Defendant-Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. In denying the Defendant-Appellant's Motions to Suppress and Dismiss, as well as his Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court consistently referenced the need to supplement the body camera video with the officer's testimony regarding the opening of the door. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's order.